



### INPUT PAPER

Prepared for the Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction 2015

## THE INTERCONNECTED AND CROSS-BORDER NATURE OF RISKS POSED BY INFECTIOUS DISEASES

Jonathan E. Suk Thomas Van Cangh Julien Beauté Cornelius Bartels Svetla Tsolova Anastasia Pharris Massimo Ciotti Jan C. Semenza

European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, Stockholm, Sweden

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract	3
1. Introduction	3
2. Infectious disease drivers and interconnected risk	4
3. Examples of interconnections and interdependencies in recent infectious disease events	
3.1 Dengue and Chikungunya in Europe	7
3.2 Measles among Roma in Bulgaria and HIV among people who inject in Greece	
3.3 Avian influenza	10
3.4 Regional conflicts and the eradication of polio	11
4. Analysing interconnected and interdependent infectious disea risks	
5 Conclusion	14
References	15

### **Abstract**

Infectious diseases can constitute public health emergencies of international concern when a pathogen arises, acquires new characteristics, or is deliberately released, leading to the potential for loss of human lives as well as societal disruption. A wide range of risk drivers are now known to lead to and/or exacerbate the emergence and spread of infectious disease, including global trade and travel, the overuse of antibiotics, intensive agriculture, climate change, high population densities, and inadequate infrastructures, such as water treatment facilities. Where multiple risk drivers interact, the potential impact of a disease outbreak is amplified. The varying temporal and geographic frequency with which infectious disease events occur adds yet a further layer of complexity to the issue.

Mitigating the emergence and spread of infectious disease necessitates mapping and prioritising the interdependencies between public health and other sectors. Conversely, during an international public health emergency, significant disruption occurs not only to healthcare systems, but also to a potentially wide range of sectors, including trade, tourism, energy, civil protection, transport, agriculture, and so on. At the same time, dealing with a disease outbreak may require a range of critical sectors for support.

As such, there is a need to move beyond narrow models of risk to better account for the interdependencies between health and other sectors so as to be able to better mitigate and respond to the risks posed by emerging infectious disease. By addressing this topic, this paper will offer a novel and important contribution to discussions about how HFA2 can address complex risk.

### 1. Introduction

The emergence and spread of infectious diseases is deeply entwined with the circumstances in which human society is organised. This has long been the case; human interactions with animals hosts have led to infectious disease outbreaks dating at least as far back as the Justinian Plague (541-542 AD), while global trade and travel have facilitated disease transmission, whether of the plague in the 14<sup>th</sup> century, smallpox in the 16<sup>th</sup> century, SARS or a novel influenza virus in the 21<sup>st</sup> century (1-3). Indeed, it is often noted that in today's interconnected world a disease can spread nearly anywhere on Earth within 24 hours.

Infectious disease risks are necessarily understood as interconnected and interdependent – but this is not simply because of globalization. A great many factors, some not restricted to the disease control or public health arena, can influence the spread of infectious disease. Assessing disease-related health risks thus necessitates understanding where they might arise and how successful it might be in transmitting. The largest risks tend to occur when novel diseases appear, when familiar diseases appear in novel geographic locations, or when preventative disease control measures break down, whether due to socioeconomic inequalities, lack of resources, accident or conflict.

In this Chapter, the interconnections and interdependencies that create (and are created by) emerging infectious diseases will be introduced, guided by a couple of topical examples. Section 2 will discuss the types of factors that can influence the spread of infectious disease. Section 3 will provide some examples of recent infectious disease incidents that have been created by the interconnectedness of factors introduced in Section 2. Section 4 will discuss some of the integrated risk

modelling approaches that have been developed to attempt to monitor and even predict infectious disease transmission, and Section 5 will summarise this Chapter by reiterating the need for and importance of recognising the interconnected and interdependent nature of infectious disease risks.

### 2. Infectious disease drivers and interconnected risk

Within the field of health, interconnected risks can be broadly defined as those for which factors traditionally viewed of as "external" to health or disease can nonetheless impact a health risk. Emerging infectious diseases, for example, can easily be viewed of as interconnected because their risk can be driven by a wide range of "externalities". They can be viewed of as interdependent because of their transboundary nature, and because risks from other sectors can interact synergistically or antagonistically. In addition, the emergence of an infectious disease risk can both be amplified by and amplify risks in other areas, from employee absenteeism and workforce shortages to potential social disruption, severe disruptions in energy, healthcare delivery, transportation or other sectors (4, 5).

There are many different ways in which the myriad factors that influence infectious disease could be categorised. For the sake of simplicity, the remainder of this discussion is derived from a study which grouped them according to three broad (and somewhat artificial) categories: globalization and environmental change; social and demographic factors; and health and agriculture (6). It should be noted that although in the following sections each set of factors will be discussed individually, they are themselves often interconnected, adding an additional layer of complexity to the issue. Furthermore, the examples provided below are merely indicative and not exhaustive.

### *Globalization and environmental change*

A wide range of infectious disease drivers can be grouped under this category, including climate change, land-use patterns, global trade and travel, migration, and so on. Climate change involves mean temperature and precipitation increases in many parts of the world, as well as increased likelihood of adverse or even extreme weather events (7-9). Many infectious-diseases are temperature-sensitive, as are the hosts for numerous zoonotic diseases, particularly vector-borne diseases. There is thus a substantial body of research that collectively demonstrates that climate change will likely lead to, at the least, some significant shifts in the geographical ranges within which infectious diseases transmit (10-14).

Land-use patterns, meanwhile, are a crucial driver of infectious disease emergence. It has been estimated that more than 60% of human pathogens are zoonotic (i.e. diseases of animals that can be transmitted to humans) (15). Many human land-use activities, including agriculture, irrigation, hunting, deforestation, and urban expansion, can cause or increase the risk of zoonotic and food- and water-borne diseases (15, 16). For example, one consequence of urban sprawl and deforestation is that wildlife may increasingly need to find

new habitats, sometimes in urban or abandoned environments which can than lead to increased human exposures to infectious pathogens. Meanwhile, the density of human population, also associated with increasing urbanization, has also been shown to be linked to the emergence of many infectious diseases (17).

Intensified global trade and travel, not to mention migration, render political borders irrelevant and create further possibilities for global disease transmission (18-20). There are numerous examples of the arrival, establishment and spread of "exotic" pathogens to new geographic locations, including malaria, dengue, Chikungunya, West Nile, and bluetongue in recent years, aided by shipping or other trade routes (18). This process is facilitated when the environmental conditions in different parts of the world share common characteristics (18). Meanwhile, numerous vaccine-preventable diseases, such as polio, meningitis or measles, can also be introduced or reintroduced to susceptible populations as a consequence of international travel (21).

### Social and demographic factors

Social and demographic contexts can significantly influence the transmission of infectious disease, while also creating increased vulnerabilities for some population subgroups. The elderly are at greater risk of many infectious diseases, and the ageing trend in many high income countries could increase the challenges related to nosocomial (hospital-acquired) and nursing-home acquired infections. An additional challenge related to population ageing is that the share of employed workers in a country decreases; the combination of more people to care for and fewer tax-related revenues may challenge publicly financed public health and disease control programmes (6). As migration is a common a strategy to offset population ageing, persons from regions with high endemicity of a given disease may move to ones with lower endemicity, thereby further creating opportunities for disease transmission and challenges for public health.

It is widely established that socially and economically disadvantaged groups suffer disproportionally from disease (22), and this is the same for infectious diseases in Europe (23, 24) and other high and low income settings. Income inequalities are generally widening globally, and this appears to be have been exacerbated in many countries due to the global economic crisis (25). Rising unemployment and the prospect of public health budget cuts can increase the risk of infectious disease transmission (24, 26), with the most prominent example being an outbreak of HIV among people who inject drugs in Greece (see section 3.2) (27, 28). In a similar fashion, it has been speculated that tuberculosis rates could rise in some countries in Central and Eastern Europe (29).

Social trends and behaviours can also play a significant role in infectious disease transmission. The most notable example would be so-called vaccine hesitancy, the phenomenon through which vaccination coverage rates remain suboptimal due to the varying and complicated reasons that individuals may have for not getting vaccinated (30, 31). In some cases, this might be related to

misconceptions about the safety or efficacy of vaccines (30, 32), whereas in others this may be related to religious or cultural beliefs (33).

### Health and agriculture

The delivery of healthcare, the availability of vaccines, antivirals and antibiotics medicines, as well as the avoidance of the over-use of antibiotic consumption, are all important public health factors related to infectious disease control. One critical factor affecting how such services are delivered relates to health system financing. Although the correlation between healthcare system financing and efficacy is not perfect, recent budget cuts to healthcare are of some concern. In part related to the global economic crisis, it has been reported that many high income governments have introduced policies to lower spending through cutting the prices of medical products and, for example, through budget restrictions and wage cuts in hospitals (34). There are many indirect and direct pathways through which budget cuts could affect disease transmission; to provide just one example, it has been estimated that 20-30% of healthcare-associated infections are preventable with intensive hygiene and control programmes i - should investments in this area diminish, then healthcare-acquired infections could become an even more problematic issue. There are roughly 4.1 million healthcare-associated infections each year in the EU alone. ii

A broader issue related to healthcare provision is population mobility for both healthcare professionals and patients who might increasingly seek work or healthcare in other countries – the provision of cross-border healthcare and the mitigation of cross-border health threats will necessitate collaboration across borders (35, 36) and solutions for the brain-drain of medical personnel from resource-poor countries (37).

Food production systems remain a persistent source for human infectious diseases. Attempts are underway to estimate the global burden of food-borne disease (38), which is likely substantial. Many factors in food production affect human health. A vast range of familiar human pathogens can be acquired through the consumption of animal products and other disease drivers, such as global travel, further provoke this (39). In addition to farmed animals, the hunting and slaughtering of wild animals has led to the emergency of more exotic pathogens: SARS originated in wildlife markets and restaurants in southern China (40) and HIV and Ebola have both been linked to the hunting or slaughtering of primates and other wild animals (15, 41, 42). The density and health of livestock, meanwhile, have been linked to disease in humans (43, 44). Although inconclusive, there is some evidence to suggest that livestock production may lead to increased antibiotic resistance in human pathogens. There are certainly many pathways by which drug resistant pathogens could transmit from livestock to humans, including environmental contamination by excreted veterinary antibiotics (15, 45, 46).

i <a href="http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/Healthcare-associated">http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/Healthcare-associated</a> infections/Pages/index.aspx, accessed Ianuary 14, 2014

ii <a href="http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/Healthcare-associated">http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/Healthcare-associated</a> infections/Pages/index.aspx, accessed January 14, 2014

## 3. Examples of interconnections and interdependencies in recent infectious disease events

It is noteworthy that many of the disease drivers discussed above are, from the perspective of other sectors, risks in their own rights. The World Economic Forum's Global Risks Report 2013 identified two infectious disease-specific risks, vulnerability to pandemics and antibiotic resistant bacteria (highlighting the latter) (47). Even more noteworthy, *apropos* the discussion from section 2, many global risks are themselves exacerbating factors for the spread of infectious disease. These include: major systemic financial failure; failure of climate change adaptation; severe income disparity; mismanagement of population ageing; terrorism; land and waterway use mismanagement; mismanaged urbanization; and species overexploitation (47).

It is instructive to provide a few examples of how such risks are interconnected in the context of infectious disease. Literally hundreds of examples from around the world could have been selected. One study identified 335 events leading to an emerging infectious disease between 1940 and 2004, identifying numerous infectious disease "hotspots" across the globe (17). Western Europe is identified as one such hotspot, and as the region within which the authors of this Chapter are most familiar, the examples below will all related to Europe. Nonetheless, while highlighting the interconnections between diverse disease drivers, the global interdependencies inherent to these examples will also be evident. The following examples have been selected to interrogate how different combinations of drivers have affected recent infectious disease risks. In 3.1, the links between environmental factors, climate change, and global trade and travel are discussed. In 3.2, socioeconomic contexts and the impact of the financial crisis are examined for their influence on disease outcomes. 3.3 examines avian influenza in the context of human-animal interfaces and global travel, and 3.4 investigates the impact of terrorism, conflict, and population displacements on infectious disease risk.

### 3.1 Dengue and Chikungunya in Europe

The sustained transmission of a vector-borne diseases requires the presence of a pathogen, a vector capable of transmitting that pathogen, and a susceptible human population (18). The interconnections between multiple disease drivers and interdependencies created by a globalized world have enabled the global expansion of vector-borne diseases, of which recent examples include the arboviruses dengue (48) and Chikungunya (49, 50).

One critical factor in the expansion of these diseases has been global trade. The mosquito species *Aedes albopictus*, also known as the Asian Tiger mosquito, is a secondary vector of dengue and Chikungunya and is thought to be the most invasive mosquito species of public health importance in the world (51). Over the past few decades it has expanded from its original habitat in Asia to all populated continents in the world (52). It has been documented that this expansion has been enabled by global trade in used tires (51, 53).

In Europe, the climatic conditions have been permissive enough to enable *Ae. albopictus* to gradually expand (often via transportation networks) from its introduction in Italy, where it arrived in 1990 (54). Today, *Ae. albopictus* is established in many regions of the Mediterranean Basin, including in Spain, France, Italy, Croatia, and Greece. In addition, the mosquito has been introduced to regions as far north as Germany, the Czech Republic and Slovakia.<sup>iii</sup> Models based on the known climatic determinants of *Ae. albopictus* suggest that many more areas of Europe could be suitable habitats for the mosquito (55) as well as for Chikungunya transmission, with some regions currently also amenable to dengue transmission (52). Under climate change scenarios, additional areas in central and western Europe, but fewer areas in southern Europe, could be climatically suitable (56, 57).

In a deeply interconnected world, there are numerous opportunities for viruses to be introduced into non-endemic regions (20). Each year, millions of people fly between regions of the world endemic to dengue or Chikungunya and European regions that are now home to *Ae. Albopictus*, whose ability to transmit Chikungunya increased after a single genetic mutation in the Chikungunya virus (58). In 2007, a traveller from India, infected with Chikungunya, was bitten by mosquitos in Italy, leading to a local outbreak in which over 200 people were infected (59). Dengue, meanwhile, which is now endemic in many tropical and sub-tropical parts of the world (60), has also been transmitted by *Ae. albopictus* in Europe, as has been documented in France and Croatia (61, 62).

As a result of the continuing expansion of *Ae. albopictus* in Europe, aided by trade and travel networks, climatic conditions, and genetic evolution, two diseases previously "exotic" to Europe now pose a persistent infectious disease risk. This sort of risk is not, of course, restricted to Europe; in late 2013 and early 2014, for example, Chikungunya was introduced and then locally transmitted in a few Caribbean islands, leading to a couple hundred confirmed cases and creating a high risk of further disease spread across the region.<sup>iv</sup>

## 3.2 Measles among Roma in Bulgaria and HIV among people who inject drugs in Greece

Socioeconomic contexts affect the spread of disease, and particularly among vulnerable populations. When financial circumstances deteriorate, the potential exists that the health burden will continue to be endeared by the most vulnerable members of society. The two examples in this section demonstrate the links between public health provision, income disparities, and infectious disease.

2014.

\_

iii http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/vectors/vectors/maps/Pages/VBORNET maps.aspx, data as of October, 2013. Accessed January 12, 2014.
iv http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/press/news/ layouts/forms/News DispForm.aspx?List=8db7286c-fe2d-476c-9133-18ff4cb1b568&ID=940&RootFolder=/en/press/news, accessed January 12,

Economic progress of the Roma population in Bulgaria has experienced a number of setbacks, ever since the political and economic transition of the late 80s (63, 64). Discrimination, poor educational attainment, lack of occupational training, poor access to labour markets, and geographic isolation have all contributed to high unemployment rates. The lack of job opportunities discourages further training and education, thereby perpetuating a vicious circle of poor education, poor working opportunities, and worsening living conditions (64). These circumstances, connected to broader cultural, demographic and economic risks, have precipitated one of the worst measles outbreaks in Europe of the past decades. Over 24,000 individuals fell ill and 24 died over a time period of a few months, starting in April 2009 (65). Approximately 90% of the cases were from the Bulgarian Roma community despite the fact that only 4% of the general Bulgarian population are Roma. In this outbreak, the risk for developing severe medical complications such as pneumonia or encephalitis from a measles infection was linked to lower maternal education levels, lower child immunization coverage, and the absence of household incomes (66). Despite that Bulgarian children are eligible for free basic medical services, almost 95% of cases had not received the full course of measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccination.

Although the root causes of measles outbreak are multifactorial, it is noteworthy that Bulgaria had one of the lowest rates of total governmental spending over GDP in 2009 of the European Union (37% vs. 49%, respectively) (67). Declines in public expenditures in Bulgaria over the last two decades have diminished access to health and educational services geared towards highly vulnerable populations. Roma communities remain susceptible to communicable diseases such as the measles outbreak in 2009; outbreaks of hepatitis A, tuberculosis, poliomyelitis have also disproportionally affected the Roma ethnic group (68, 69).

Another highly vulnerable group for infectious diseases in Europe are people who inject drugs (PWID). In the wake of the global economic crisis, many health professionals across Europe anticipated adverse effects in relation to infectious disease incidence and control [66]. An observed rapid increase in reported HIV cases among PWID in both Greece and Romania was thought to be linked to the economic crisis [26]. In Greece, for example, HIV infections among PWID increased 1600% in 2011 [25]. From an epidemiologic standpoint, it is difficult to causally link the economic crisis with an upsurge in HIV in a particular subpopulation. Nonetheless, there are potential causal factors worth noticing. Yearly change in the Greek GDP has been found to be inversely associated with: HIV case reports, homelessness, unemployment among PWID, and HIV prevalence among drug injectors seeking drug in Athens [25]. Meanwhile, causal pathways have been hypothesised to include the following factors: the economic recession increased income disparities, leading to increased homelessness; this contributed to increased injecting network sizes among PWID, which were then exposed to new introductions of HIV from migrant communities, themselves subject to difficult socioeconomic circumstances in their home countries [25]. Transmission risk was intensified by low levels of available injecting equipment and other prevention services

[25]. In this scenario, the economic crisis, which originated in the financial sector, contributed to a large upswing of HIV in a vulnerable population, making conditions among PWID even more tenuous and, simultaneously, leading to fewer resources dedicated to harm prevention.

#### 3.3 Avian influenza

Specific subtypes of influenza A viruses that circulate in birds can infect humans. Influenza infections of avian origin occur through both direct and indirect exposure to infected animals, whether alive or dead. One important unique feature of influenza viruses is their ability to cause both annual epidemics (seasonal influenza) and, from time to time, more serious pandemics (70). Each emerging strain has the potential to become seasonal.

Birds are a natural reservoir for influenza viruses, and A virus subtypes H5, H7 and H9 have all led to outbreaks in human populations (71). In recent years, the most significant outbreaks have been related to H5N1 and H7N9. Although a limited number of human cases infected with influenza A(H5N1) has been reported, the high case fatality and its potential ability to adapt to human hosts have raised concern at the global level (72). More recently, in the spring of 2013, 145 people in China were infected by the avian influenza strain A(H7N9), leading to 45 deaths (73). The virus was detected in poultry but also in the environment. The closure of live poultry markets in April 2013 did lead to a dramatic drop in the number of cases (74) although sporadic cases have been reported through the end of 2013.

A broad combination of factors can trigger and sometimes amplify avian influenza outbreaks (75, 76). Ecological and environmental factors play a key role. Population density of both human and animals – as well as the proximity between them – are known risk factors for avian influenza infections in humans. Live bird markets and human consumption patterns of poultry and other avian species are also known to contribute to the risk of both influenza emergence as well as infection (77). Seasonality is another influencing factor, although different hypotheses exist as to why winter seasons are traditionally driving influenza transmission (78). Bird migratory patterns, particularly where migratory birds might interact with livestock poultry, create potential pathways for introductions of the virus into new regions. Air travel can quickly lead to the rapid global spread of influenza (2). Meanwhile, level of available public health measures, from molecular surveillance to rapid vaccine production, are important determinants of the impact that any given influenza outbreak might have (79). Significantly, different avian influenza have different characteristics, further challenging the public health response. For example, influenza A(H5N1)

is highly pathogenic in birds, leading to natural sentinel surveillance systems, while influenza A(H7N) may circulate among healthy birds, thereby remaining undetected (80).

The global and sectoral interdependencies related to influenza have been well documented. A widespread pandemic could quickly disrupt activities in many sectors, including trade (including potential trade bans) (81), transportation, healthcare delivery, critical infrastructure, and so on. School closures and workplace absenteeism are oft-cited control measures that might also have substantial impact on society. Numerous economic estimates indicate that the direct costs (use of healthcare services) and indirect costs (productivity losses) related to seasonal influenza can amount to billions of dollars globally (82). An economic scenario analysis of pandemic influenza in the UK indicated potential costs of 0.5%-1% of GDP in low fatality scenario and 3.3%-4.3% in a high fatality scenario (83).

### 3.4 Regional conflicts and the eradication of polio

Political unrest, armed conflict and related population displacements are well known to be severe barriers to the provision of public health programmes (including immunization programmes). Needless to say, conflicts also lead to significant vulnerabilities among populations, whilst population movements create further opportunities for disease spread.

Complex security situations have played a role in slowing down global efforts at polio eradication. In Pakistan, two workers associated with the World Health Organization (WHO) and its polio vaccination campaign were shot dead in July, 2012 (84), and it has since been reported that 31 people associated with polio campaigns were killed in the country between July 2012 and December 2013; reputedly, polio workers have been targeted for killing with terrorist intentions.vi Vaccination campaigns in Pakistan have been further hindered by public mistrust (84), a situation that likely further deteriorated after it was revealed that one doctor had run a fake vaccination campaign as part of a collaboration with the US Central Intelligence Agency efforts to find Osama bin Laden (85, 86). Pakistan had a reported 85 polio cases in 2013, up from 55 in 2012.vii Assuming that roughly 95% of polio infections are asymptomatic and another 4.5% have mild or non-paralytic symptoms, this means that at least a few thousand additional people could be currently carrying and transmitting the virus in the country. Meanwhile, polio eradication programmes have pushed back their target completion dates, and it is has been reported that 350,000

vii <a href="http://www.polioeradication.org/Dataandmonitoring/Poliothisweek.aspx">http://www.polioeradication.org/Dataandmonitoring/Poliothisweek.aspx</a>, accessed January 14, 2014.

vi http://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/2013/12/pakistan-polio-workers-targeted-killing-201312118364851379.html, accessed January 14, 2014.

children in Pakistan's Federally Administered Tribal Areas have not received polio vaccinations since mid-2012. Viiii

Spill-over into neighbouring countries is one consequence of halted polio eradication. Although analyses are underway, it appears that an introduction of polio from Pakistan into the broader region led to viral circulation in Israel, Egypt and, potentially, Syria (87). In Israel, circulation of polio virus occurred despite an estimated vaccination coverage of greater than 95% of the general population (87, 88). In Syria, meanwhile 17 laboratory-confirmed cases were identified in 2013, implying widespread circulation of poliovirus (88). The combination of conflict and circulating poliovirus is potentially highly problematic, as there are currently more than two million Syrian refugees globally, with an increase of 700,000 since July 2013(88). This vast number, with high numbers children, many of whom may be unvaccinated, creates the potential for further regional spread of poliovirus. In a globalised world, this risk is not localised; in the EU, for example, ten per cent of new asylum applications in between January 1 and August 31, 2013, were from Syria, while the number of undocumented migrants from Syria has also increased (88). Such circumstances increase the risk of poliovirus reintroduction and transmission in Europe.

There are many tragic dimensions to a humanitarian crisis such as the one in Syria, and dealing with the health aspects of such crises is both challenging and fraught with danger. This example demonstrates that inadequate global coordination of the health response (89), in combination with the interconnection of key risks such as low vaccination coverage, conflict and terrorism, population displacement, have the potential to amplify an already serious risk to global health.

# 4. Analysing interconnected and interdependent infectious disease risks

There is a growing awareness within the health sector that the wide range of factors – many of them risks generated from other sectors – that can combine to affect the transmission of infectious disease need to be better and more holistically monitored, assessed, and acted upon. This is reflected by calls to approach the topic from a broader systems perspectives (6, 15, 90-93), which tend to emphasise the need for integrating insights from multiple sectors and disciplines. Similarly, the One Health approach, which recognises the intimate relationship between environmental conditions, animal health, and human health, has been promoted at the global level<sup>ix</sup>; ways of operationalizing One Health concepts have also gained traction (94). Growing attention to the social

 $^{\rm ix}$  http://www.oie.int/en/for-the-media/editorials/detail/article/one-world-one-health/, accessed January 14, 2014.

viii <a href="http://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2013/p1121-polio-progress.html">http://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2013/p1121-polio-progress.html</a>, accessed January 14, 2014

determinants of health, meanwhile, is another crucial development for assessing and monitoring infectious disease related risks.

In concert with the growing awareness of the need to broadly assess the interconnected nature of infectious disease risk, there have been growing calls to develop tools and methodologies for predictive modelling of infectious disease outbreaks that assess, to some degree, the amplifying role that non-health factors play in propagating disease risk (13, 95, 96). Lagging behind have been analyses of vulnerabilities as well as strong evidence bases on the status and efficacy of public health preparedness (97)– two critical determinants of the magnitude of impact that any disease outbreaks might have.

There are a wide range of approaches to predictive infectious disease modelling approaches (96). One of the more promising developments has been research into the links between environmental variables and infectious disease spread. As discussed in section 2, many environmental drivers can be considered as epidemic precursors of disease, and thus monitoring changes in environmental conditions can help anticipate or even forecast an upsurge of disease (98). In recent years, work in this area has been greatly enabled by rapid developments in Geographic Information Systems (GIS), which have facilitated the management and use of spatial data for analytic epidemiology. Climatic, weather and environmental data can now be linked and integrated with data on health, disease vectors, and so on, to provide support tools for decision makers (98).

To illustrate how this has can be done, the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control developed the European Environment and Epidemiology (E3) Network to help monitor environmental conditions related to infectious disease threats (98). The initial building-block of the E3 Network is data from the Emerging Diseases in a Changing European Environment project (EDEN), a research initiative funding by the Directorate-General for Research and Innovation of the European Commission.<sup>x</sup> The aggregation of these data sets, and those continuously acquired from other sources, with regular outputs from advanced scientific analysis, serve as a starting point for analysis of disease risk and vulnerable regions.

This approach has been used to predict the environmental suitability of malaria transmission in Greece (99). Malaria was eradicated from Greece in 1974, but in 2009 (and subsequent years), locally acquired cases were identified. Remotely sensed data were used to describe the environmental and climatic conditions where future transmission could happen in Greece. Sea-level altitude and the mean and annual variation of land-surface temperature, both for daytime and night-time, were predictors in this model. Defining the areas of high risk helped guide the public health responses and to integrate preparedness and response activities, including targeted epidemiological and entomological surveillance, vector control activities, and awareness rising among the general population and health workers, in the areas environmentally suitable for transmission.

\_

x http://www.eden-fp6project.net/, accessed January 14, 2014.

In another example, the E3 Network hosts a real-time model for the environmental suitability of *Vibrio* spp. in marine waters worldwide, taking into account temperature and salinity (100). It uses daily-updated remotely sensed data to assess environmental suitability conditions for *Vibrio spp*. infections according to a model developed by Baker-Austin et al (101). Infections caused by Vibrio species (other than *V. cholerae*) can cause serious problems for immunocompromised persons, although the overall occurrence is generally low. Nonetheless, early information about the environmental suitability of *Vibrio spp*. infections will be of public health interest, and also demonstrates a proof-of-concept for predictive disease modelling more generally.

### 5 Conclusion

As has been stressed in this Chapter, infectious diseases are very often the product of a wide range of intermingling and interconnected factors, and disease outbreaks create many cross-sectoral interdependencies. There is an emerging body of research on deploying holistic analyses of the many factors affecting infectious disease risks, and there are now even early-stage predictive modelling frameworks that show promise. Information from these analyses can be used to set public health priorities and to inform civil society about potential consequences that factors external to health, such as global change, have on infectious disease control.

Moving forward, more research into the efficacy and status of public health preparedness and further work on the cross-sectoral dependencies created by disease outbreaks will be important areas for development. Meanwhile, methodological development of approaches for analysing priorities for public health preparedness activities and tools for facilitating cross-sectoral collaboration were recently highlighted by participants representing more than 30 countries at a Joint ECDC-WHO Consultation on Pandemic and All-Hazard Preparedness, held in November, 2013.xi These will be developed by ECDC in the coming years.

At the European policy level, the multifactorial, interconnected and interdependent nature of infectious disease risks has been recognised. On 6 November 2013, a new EU Decision on serious cross border threats to health entered into force.xii Two of the main features of this legal instrument are its "all-hazard" approach and its emphasis on inter-sectoral collaboration. Both aspects are of strong relevance for an integrated approach towards interconnected risks.

X

http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/press/events/\_layouts/forms/Event\_DispForm.aspx?List=a8926334-8425-4aae-be6a-

<sup>70</sup>f89f9d563c&ID=242&ContentTypeId=0x010082EE625D0C434588A3E95C31FC12D7A70107 0052267A797710AF45AB21E1D53B49B228, accessed January 14, 2014.

xii http://ec.europa.eu/health/preparedness response/policy/decision/index en.htm, accessed January 14, 2014.

The all-hazard component implies a shift from a cause-driven to an impact-driven assessment and management of health threats. In this sense, the Decision builds on the EU's extensive experience in the field of communicable diseases and expands it to other types of threats from biological, chemical or environmental origin, ensuring a consistent European response across countries and across types of public health emergencies. The inter-sectoral component aims at enhancing the joint preparedness and response planning among European countries, resulting in comprehensive assessments of emergency situations and a formulation of responses addressing the whole range of their potential impacts. This Decision thus draws attention to the need for integrated approaches towards the identification, assessment and management of interconnected risks.

### References

- 1. Daszak P. Anatomy of a pandemic. The Lancet. 2012 //;380(9857):1883-4.
- 2. Khan K, Arino J, Hu W, Raposo P, Sears J, Calderon F, et al. Spread of a novel influenza A (H1N1) virus via global airline transportation. New England Journal of Medicine. 2009 //;361(2):212-4.
- 3. McNeill WH. Plagues and Peoples. Garden City, NY: Anchor Press; 1976.
- 4. Garrett AL, Park YS, Redlener I. Mitigating absenteesim in hospital workers during a pandemic. Disaster medicine and public health preparedness. 2009 //;3(SUPPL.2):S141-S7.
- 5. Ansell C, Boin A, Keller A. Managing Transboundary Crises: Identifying the Building Blocks of an Effective Response System. Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management. 2010 //;18(4):195-207.
- 6. Suk JE, Semenza JC. Future infectious disease threats to Europe. Am J Public Health. 2011 Nov:101(11):2068-79. PubMed PMID: 21940915.
- 7. IPCC. Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 2012.
- 8. Hansen J, Sato M, Ruedy R. Perception of climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2012 //;109(37):E2415-E23.
- 9. IPCC. Summary for Policymakers. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Tignor M, Allen SK, Boschung J, et al., editors. Climate Change 2013: The physical science basis Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2013.
- 10. McMichael AJ. Globalization, climate change, and human health. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(14):1335 43.
- 11. Lindgren E, Andersson Y, Suk JE, Sudre B, Semenza JC. Public health. Monitoring EU emerging infectious disease risk due to climate change. Science. 2012 Apr 27;336(6080):418-9. PubMed PMID: 22539705.
- 12. Confalonieri U, Menne B, Akhtar R, Ebi KL, Hauengue M, Kovats RS, et al. Human Health In: Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE, editors. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2007.
- 13. Altizer S, Ostfeld RS, Johnson PTJ, Kutz S, Harvell CD. Climate change and infectious diseases: From evidence to a predictive framework. Science. 2013 //;341(6145):514-9.
- 14. Semenza JC, Menne B. Climate change and infectious diseases in Europe. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2009 //;9(6):365-75.

- 15. Karesh WB, Dobson A, Lloyd-Smith JO, Lubroth J, Dixon MA, Bennett M, et al. Ecology of zoonoses: Natural and unnatural histories. The Lancet. 2012 //;380(9857):1936-45.
- 16. Patz JA, Daszak P, Tabor GM, Aguirre AA, Pearl M, Epstein J, et al. Unhealthy landscapes: Policy recommendations on land use change and infectious disease emergence. Environ Health Perspect. 2004 Jul;112(10):1092-8. PubMed PMID: 15238283. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1247383. Epub 2004/07/09. eng.
- 17. Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, et al. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature. 2008 Feb 21;451(7181):990-3. PubMed PMID: 18288193. Epub 2008/02/22. eng.
- 18. Randolph SE, Rogers DJ. The arrival, establishment and spread of exotic diseases: patterns and predictions. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2010 May;8(5):361-71. PubMed PMID: 20372156. Epub 2010/04/08. eng.
- 19. Tatem AJ, Hay SI, Rogers DJ. Global traffic and disease vector dispersal. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2006 //;103(16):6242-7.
- 20. Tatem AJ, Huang Z, Das A, Qi Q, Roth J, Qiu Y. Air travel and vector-borne disease movement. Parasitology. 2012 //;139(14):1816-30.
- 21. Gautret P, Botelho-Nevers E, Brouqui P, Parola P. The spread of vaccine-preventable diseases by international travellers: A public-health concern. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2012 //;18(SUPPL. 5):77-84.
- 22. Health WCoSDa. Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Geneva: WHO 2008.
- 23. Semenza JC, Giesecke J. Intervening to reduce inequalities in infections in Europe. Am J Public Health. 2008 May;98(5):787-92. PubMed PMID: 18381991. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2374832. Epub 2008/04/03. eng.
- 24. Suhrcke M, Stuckler D, Suk JE, Desai M, Senek M, McKee M, et al. The impact of economic crises on communicable disease transmission and control: a systematic review of the evidence. PloS one. 2011;6(6):e20724. PubMed PMID: 21695209. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3112201.
- 25. OECD. Crisis squeezes income and puts pressure on inequality and poverty. Paris: OECD, 2013.
- 26. ECDC. Health inequalities, the financial crisis and infectious disease in Europe. Stockholm: ECDC, 2013.
- 27. Paraskevis D, Nikolopoulos G, Fotiou A, Tsiara C, Paraskeva D, Sypsa V, et al. Economic Recession and Emergence of an HIV-1 Outbreak among Drug Injectors in Athens Metropolitan Area: A Longitudinal Study. PloS one. 2013;8(11):e78941.
- 28. Pharris A, Wiessing L, Sfetcu O, Hedrich D, Botescu A, Fotiou A, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus in injecting drug users in Europe following a reported increase of cases in Greece and Romania, 2011. Euro Surveill. 2011;16(48). PubMed PMID: 22172301.
- 29. Arinaminpathy N, Dye C. Health in financial crises: Economic recession and tuberculosis in Central and Eastern Europe. Journal of the Royal Society Interface. 2010 //;7(52):1559-69.
- 30. Larson HJ, Leask J, Aggett S, Sevdalis N, Thomson A. A multidisciplinary research agenda for understanding vaccine-related decisions. Vaccines. 2013;1(3):293-304.
- 31. Dubé E, Laberge C, Guay M, Bramadat P, Roy R, Bettinger J. Vaccine hesitancy: An overview. Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics. 2013 //;9(8):1763-73.
- 32. Brown KF, Long SJ, Ramsay M, Hudson MJ, Green J, Vincent CA, et al. UK parents' decision-making about measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine 10 years after the MMR-autism controversy: A qualitative analysis. Vaccine. 2012 //;30(10):1855-64.
- 33. ECDC. Review of outbreaks and barriers to MMR vaccination coverage among hard-to-reach populations in Europe. Stockholm: ECCD, 2012.
- 34. OECD. Health at glance 2013: OECD Indicators. Paris: OECD, 2013.
- 35. Chen LH, Wilson ME. The globalization of healthcare: Implications of medical tourism for the infectious disease clinician. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2013 //;57(12):1752-9.
- 36. Greer S, Jarman H. Managing risks in EU health services policy: Spot markets, legal certainty and bureaucratic resistance. Journal of European Social Policy. 2012 //;22(3):259-72.
- 37. Mackey TK, Liang BA. Restructuring brain drain: Strengthening governance and financing for health worker migration. Global health action. 2013 //;6(1).
- 38. Havelaar AH, Cawthorne A, Angulo F, Bellinger D, Corrigan T, Cravioto A, et al. WHO Initiative to Estimate the Global Burden of Foodborne Diseases. The Lancet. 2013;381:S59.

- 39. McEntire J. Foodborne Disease. The Global Movement of Food and People. Infectious Disease Clinics of North America. 2013 //;27(3):687-93.
- 40. Guan Y, Zheng BJ, He YQ, Liu XL, Zhuang ZX, Cheung CL, et al. Isolation and characterization of viruses related to the SARS coronavirus from animals in Southern China. Science. 2003 //;302(5643):276-8.
- 41. Hahn BH, Shaw GM, De Cock KM, Sharp PM. AIDS as a zoonosis: Scientific and public health implications. Science. 2000 //;287(5453):607-14.
- 42. Rouquet P, Froment JM, Bermejo M, Kilbourn A, Karesh W, Reed P, et al. Wild animal mortality monitoring and human ebola outbreaks, Gabon and Republic of Congo, 2001-2003. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2005 //;11(2):283-90.
- 43. Febriani Y, Levallois P, Lebel G, Gingras S. Association between indicators of livestock farming intensity and hospitalization rate for acute gastroenteritis. Epidemiology and Infection. 2009 //;137(8):1073-85.
- 44. Singer RS, Cox Jr LA, Dickson JS, Hurd HS, Phillips I, Miller GY. Modeling the relationship between food animal health and human foodborne illness. Preventive Veterinary Medicine. 2007 //;79(2-4):186-203.
- 45. Gilchrist MJ, Greko C, Wallinga DB, Beran GW, Riley DG, Thorne PS. The potential role of concentrated animal feeding operations in infectious disease epidemics and antibiotic resistance. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2007 //;115(2):313-6.
- 46. Marshall BM, Levy SB. Food animals and antimicrobials: Impacts on human health. Clinical microbiology reviews. 2011 //;24(4):718-33.
- 47. Forum WE. Global Risks 2013. Eigth Edition. Geneva: World Economic Forum, 2013.
- 48. Gubler DJ. Dengue, Urbanization and globalization: The unholy trinity of the 21 st century. Tropical Medicine and Health. 2011 //;39(4 SUPPL.):3-11.
- 49. Pialoux G, Gaüzère BA, Jauréguiberry S, Strobel M. Chikungunya, an epidemic arbovirosis. Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2007 //;7(5):319-27.
- 50. Burt FJ, Rolph MS, Rulli NE, Mahalingam S, Heise MT. Chikungunya: a re-emerging virus. Lancet. 2012 Feb 18;379(9816):662-71. English.
- 51. Benedict MQ, Levine RS, Hawley WA, Lounibos LP. Spread of the tiger: Global risk of invasion by the mosquito Aedes albopictus. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases. 2007 //;7(1):76-85.
- 52. Rogers DJ, Suk JE, Semenza JC. Using global maps to predict the risk of dengue in Europe. Acta Tropica. 2013 //;129(1):1-14.
- 53. Reiter P, Sprenger D. The used tire trade: a mechanism for the worldwide dispersal of container breeding mosquitoes. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association. 1987 //;3(3):494-501.
- 54. Roiz D, Neteler M, Castellani C, Arnoldi D, Rizzoli A. Climatic factors driving invasion of the tiger mosquito (Aedes albopictus) into new areas of Trentino, Northern Italy. PloS one. 2011 //;6(4).
- 55. ECDC. Development of Aedes albopictus risk maps. Stockholm: 2009 May 2009. Report No.
- 56. Fischer D, Thomas SM, Niemitz F, Reineking B, Beierkuhnlein C. Projection of climatic suitability for Aedes albopictus Skuse (Culicidae) in Europe under climate change conditions. Global and Planetary Change. 2011 //;78(1-2):54-64.
- 57. Fischer D, Thomas SM, Suk JE, Sudre B, Hess A, Tjaden NB, et al. Climate change effects on chikungunya transmission in europe: Geospatial analysis of vector's climatic suitability and virus' temperature requirements. International journal of health geographics. 2013 //;12.
- 58. Tsetsarkin KA, McGee CE, Volk SM, Vanlandingham DL, Weaver SC, Higgs S. Epistatic roles of E2 glycoprotein mutations in adaption of Chikungunya virus to Aedes albopictus and Ae. Aegypti mosquitoes. PloS one. 2009 //;4(8).
- 59. Rezza G, Nicoletti L, Angelini R, Romi R, Finarelli AC, Panning M, et al. Infection with chikungunya virus in Italy: an outbreak in a temperate region. Lancet. 2007 Dec 1;370(9602):1840-6. PubMed PMID: DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61779-6.
- 60. Bhatt S, Gething PW, Brady OJ, Messina JP, Farlow AW, Moyes CL, et al. The global distribution and burden of dengue. Nature. 2013 //;496(7446):504-7.
- 61. Gjenero-Margan I, Aleraj B, Krajcar D, Lesnikar V, Klobucar A, Pem-Novosel I, et al. Autochthonous dengue fever in Croatia, August-September 2010. Euro Surveill. 2011;16(9). PubMed PMID: 21392489. Epub 2011/03/12. eng.

- 62. La Ruche G, Souares Y, Armengaud A, Peloux-Petiot F, Delaunay P, Despres P, et al. First two autochthonous dengue virus infections in metropolitan France, September 2010. Euro Surveill. 2010 Sep 30;15(39):19676. PubMed PMID: 20929659. Epub 2010/10/12. eng.
- 63. Hajioff S, McKee M. The health of the Roma people: a review of the published literature. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2000 Nov;54(11):864-9. PubMed PMID: 11027202. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1731574. Epub 2000/10/12. eng.
- 64. Parekh N, Rose T. Health inequalities of the Roma in Europe: a literature review. Cent Eur J Public Health. 2011 Sep;19(3):139-42. PubMed PMID: 22026288. Epub 2011/10/27. eng.
- 65. NCIPD. National Center of Infectious and Parasitic Diseases, available at <a href="http://www.ncipd.org/">http://www.ncipd.org/</a> (accessed Jaunary 5th, 2012) 2012 [cited 2012 January 5th, 2012]. Available from: <a href="http://www.ncipd.org/">http://www.ncipd.org/</a>.
- 66. Lim TA, Marinova L, Kojouharova M, Tsolova S, Semenza JC. Measles outbreak in Bulgaria: poor maternal educational attainment as a risk factor for medical complications. European journal of public health. 2013 Aug;23(4):663-9. PubMed PMID: 23302763. Epub 2013/01/11. eng.
- 67. International Monetary Fund. World economic outlook data 2012 [Sept 21, 2012]. Available from:
- http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2012/01/weodata/WEOApr2012all.xls.
- 68. Kojouharova M. Current outbreak of hepatitis A in Bulgaria, 2006. Euro Surveill. 2006;11(10):E061005 1. PubMed PMID: 17213531. Epub 2007/01/11. eng.
- 69. Kojouharova M, Zuber PL, Gyurova S, Fiore L, Buttinelli G, Kunchev A, et al. Importation and circulation of poliovirus in Bulgaria in 2001. Bull World Health Organ. 2003;81(7):476-81. PubMed PMID: 12973639. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2572497. Epub 2003/09/16. eng.
- 70. Cox NJ, Subbarao K. Influenza. Lancet. 1999 Oct 9;354(9186):1277-82. PubMed PMID: 10520648.
- 71. Poovorawan Y, Pyungporn S, Prachayangprecha S, Makkoch J. Global alert to avian influenza virus infection: From H5N1 to H7N9. Pathogens and global health. 2013 //;107(5):217-23
- 72. Beigel JH, Farrar J, Han AM, Hayden FG, Hyer R, de Jong MD, et al. Avian influenza A (H5N1) infection in humans. N Engl J Med. 2005 Sep 29;353(13):1374-85. PubMed PMID: 16192482.
- 73. Chen E, Chen Y, Fu L, Chen Z, Gong Z, Mao H, et al. Human infection with avian influenza A(H7N9) virus re-emerges in China in winter 2013. Euro Surveill. 2013;18(43). PubMed PMID: 24176616.
- 74. Yu H, Wu JT, Cowling BJ, Liao Q, Fang VJ, Zhou S, et al. Effect of closure of live poultry markets on poultry-to-person transmission of avian influenza A H7N9 virus: an ecological study. Lancet. 2013 Oct 30. PubMed PMID: 24183056.
- 75. Guan Y, Smith GJ. The emergence and diversification of panzootic H5N1 influenza viruses. Virus Res. 2013 Dec 5;178(1):35-43. PubMed PMID: 23735533.
- 76. Si Y, de Boer WF, Gong P. Different environmental drivers of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 outbreaks in poultry and wild birds. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e53362. PubMed PMID: 23308201. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3538778.
- 77. Fournie G, Guitian J, Desvaux S, Cuong VC, Dung DH, Pfeiffer DU, et al. Interventions for avian influenza A (H5N1) risk management in live bird market networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2013 //;110(22):9177-82.
- 78. Tamerius J, Nelson MI, Zhou SZ, Viboud C, Miller MA, Alonso WJ. Global influenza seasonality: reconciling patterns across temperate and tropical regions. Environ Health Perspect. 2011 Apr;119(4):439-45. PubMed PMID: 21097384. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3080923.
- 79. Nicholson KG, Wood JM, Zambon M. Influenza. Lancet. 2003 Nov 22;362(9397):1733-45. PubMed PMID: 14643124.
- 80. Cowling BJ, Jin L, Lau EHY, Liao Q, Wu P, Jiang H, et al. Comparative epidemiology of human infections with avian influenza A H7N9 and H5N1 viruses in China: A population-based study of laboratory-confirmed cases. The Lancet. 2013 //;382(9887):129-37.
- 81. Hall C. Impact of avian influenza on U.S. poultry trade relations-2002: H5 or H7 low pathogenic avian influenza. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2004 Oct;1026:47-53. PubMed PMID: 15604469.
- 82. Peasah SK, Azziz-Baumgartner E, Breese J, Meltzer MI, Widdowson MA. Influenza cost and cost-effectiveness studies globally--a review. Vaccine. 2013 Nov 4;31(46):5339-48. PubMed PMID: 24055351.

- 83. Smith RD, Keogh-Brown MR, Barnett T, Tait J. The economy-wide impact of pandemic influenza on the UK: A computable general equilibrium modelling experiment. BMJ (Online). 2009 //;339(7733):1298.
- 84. Gulland A. WHO workers are shot at during vaccination campaign in Pakistan. BMJ. 2012 2012-07-19 15:19:14;345.
- 85. Hawkes N. Doctor who helped locate bin Laden family worked for the CIA. BMJ. 2012 2012-01-31 15:36:20;344.
- 86. Lenzer J. Fake vaccine campaign in Pakistan could threaten plans to eradicate polio. BMJ. 2011 2011-07-19 12:39:46;343.
- 87. Roberts L. Israel's silent polio epidemic breaks all the rules. Science. 2013 //;342(6159):679-80.
- 88. ECDC. Risk of introduction and transmission of wild-type poliovirus in EU/EEA countries following events in Israel and Syria updated risk assessment. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2013.
- 89. Coutts A, Fouad FM. Response to Syria's health crisis-poor and uncoordinated. The Lancet. 2013 //;381(9885):2242-3.
- 90. McMichael AJ. Prisoners of the proximate: loosening the constraints on epidemiology in an age of change. American Journal of Epidemiology. 1999;149(10):887.
- 91. Susser M, Susser E. Choosing a future for epidemiology: II. From black box to Chinese boxes and eco-epidemiology. American journal of public health. 1996;86(5):674.
- 92. Parkes MW, Bienen L, Breilh J, Hsu LN, McDonald M, Patz JA, et al. All hands on deck: Transdisciplinary approaches to emerging infectious disease. EcoHealth. 2005 //;2(4):258-72.
- 93. Butler C. Infectious disease emergence and global change: thinking systemically in a shrinking world. Infectious Diseases of Poverty. 2012;1(1):5. PubMed PMID: doi:10.1186/2049-9957-1-5.
- 94. Rabinowitz PM, Kock R, Kachani M, Kunkel R, Thomas J, Gilbert J, et al. Toward proof of concept of a one health approach to disease prediction and control. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2013 //;19(12).
- 95. Semenza JC, Sudre B, Oni T, Suk JE, Giesecke J. Linking Environmental Drivers to Infectious Diseases: The European Environment and Epidemiology Network. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2013 //;7(7).
- 96. Woolhouse M. How to make predictions about future infectious disease risks. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. 2011 //;366(1573):2045-54.
- 97. Nelson CD, Beckjord EB, Dausey DJ, Chan E, Lotstein D, Lurie N. How can we strengthen the evidence base in public health preparedness? Disaster medicine and public health preparedness. 2008 //;2(4):247-50.
- 98. Semenza JC, Sudre B, Oni T, Suk JE, Giesecke J. Linking environmental drivers to infectious diseases: the European environment and epidemiology network. PLoS neglected tropical diseases. 2013 Jul;7(7):e2323. PubMed PMID: 23936561. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3723567. Epub 2013/08/13. eng.
- 99. Sudre B, Rossi M, Van Bortel W, Danis K, Baka A, Vakalis N, et al. Mapping environmental suitability for malaria transmission, Greece. Emerg Infect Dis. 2013 May;19(5):784-6. PubMed PMID: 23697370. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3647495. Epub 2013/05/24. eng.
- 100. ECDC. E3 Geoportal 2014. Available from:
- http://e3devint.ecdcnet.europa.eu/SitePages/Vibrio%20Risk%20Map.aspx.
- 101. Baker-Austin. Nature Climate Change. 2013;3:73-7.